1999

Rhonda Lynn Cameron Barton v. John Kimball Barton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The order appealed from was entered November 5, 1999. The order was a final judgment. Boggs v. Boggs, 824 P.2d 478, 480 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Mrs. Barton filed her notice of appeal on December 3, 1999. The notice was timely. Utah R. App. P. 4(a). The contempt claim arises out of a domestic relations action, and this Court therefore has original appellate jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(h) (1996).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Where a divorce decree provided that the Utah would retain jurisdiction only until a Special Master was established in California, and where the Special Master had been established, did the Utah court err in holding that it still had jurisdiction? This issue presents a question of the effect of a prior judicial decision and is reviewed for correctness. Billings v. Union Bankers Insurance Co., 918 P.2d 461, 464 (Utah 1996). This was raised in Mrs. Barton's Affidavit in Response to Respondent's Order to Show Cause re Contempt. (Record 406-403.)

2. Where the children and both parents had moved from the state of Utah, did the decree court retain jurisdiction to modify visitation rights as a sanction for perceived contempt? This is a question of law reviewed for correctness, with no deference to the ruling of the trial court. Liska v. Liska, 902 P.2d 644, 646-647 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). This was raised in Mrs. Barton's Affidavit in Response to Respondent's Order to Show Cause re Contempt. (Record 406-403.)

3.t Where a party presented evidence that she lacked the money to pay a contempt judgment and there was no contrary evidence, did the court abuse its discretion in finding the party in continued contempt for failing to pay the judgment? Orders relating to contempt of court are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Dansie v. Dansie, 1999 Utah App. 92, ¶ 6, 977 P.2d 539, 540. Mrs. Barton's lack of income was raised by testimony and argument. (Transcript Oct. 18 pp. 22-23, 127-128)

3. Are the contempt citations supported by adequate findings, where there was no finding that petitioner had the ability to comply with the court orders, and where the court failed to address petitioner's claim that an independent therapist strongly counseled against allowing respondent to exercise unsupervised visitation with the minor children? This Court reviews de novo the question of whether the findings are adequate. Butler, Crockett and Walsh Development Corp. v. Pinecrest Pipeline Operating Co., 909 P.2d 225, 232 (Utah 1995).

4. In a proceeding to determine the penalty for contempt, is evidence of legal and other advice given to the party relevant, and is the party's testimony concerning that advice admissible over a hearsay objection? Matters relating to the admission of evidence are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Trolley Square Associates v. Nielson, 886 P.2d 61, 66 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). This was raised by offering the testimony at trial and preferring the evidence. (Transcript Oct. 18 pp. 17, 20-21.)

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES OR CASES

A copy of the federal Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1738A, is attached in the Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case. This was a contempt proceeding arising in the context of a divorce case.

B. Course of Proceedings And Disposition Below.

The parties were divorced by a decree entered April 9, 1997. (Record 59-58.) An Addendum to Decree of Divorce was entered December 22, 1998. (Record 324-303.) The Addendum to Decree of Divorce granted specific rights of visitation to Mr. Barton. The Addendum appointed a Special Master in California to monitor visitation, and further provided that jurisdiction would then be transferred to California.

John Barton asserted that Rhonda Barton had interfered with his visitation rights, and on July 19, 1999, he obtained an Order to Show Cause in Re Contempt which scheduled a hearing for August 11, 1999. Rhonda Barton was served with the order on Aug. 3, 1999. (Transcript Aug. 11, page 4.) Mrs. Barton did not physically appear at the hearing, but filed an affidavit (Record 406-386) responding to the claims in the order to show cause, asserting that Mr. Barton was emotionally abusive to the children (Record 395-394 ¶ 37, 393 ¶ 41, 390 ¶ 53), and asserting that the Court should defer jurisdiction to a proceeding which Mrs. Barton had commenced in California. Judge Lynn Davis found Mrs. Barton in contempt for

failing to personally appear and for failing to allow visitation. (Transcript Aug. 11, page 31.) Judge Davis also ordered that Mrs. Barton reimburse Mr. Barton \$1397.00 for travel expenses and attorney fees relating to the hearing. Judge Davis reserved the issue of penalty for contempt, to be determined at a review hearing after 60 days. (Record 413.)

On September 13, 1999, Mrs. Barton filed a motion to transfer jurisdiction to California. (Record 429-428.) She also filed an Ex Parte Motion for Order Staying Unsupervised Visitation, supported by a letter from the Special Master stating that the children were fearful of Mr. Barton and that it would not be in their best interests to have unsupervised visitation with him. (Record 439-434.) Judge Lynn Davis reviewed the Ex Parte Motion for Order Staying Unsupervised Visitation, but declined to enter any order because a hearing on the contempt issues was scheduled to be heard before Judge Harding. (Record 440, 450-448.)

On September 28, 1999, Judge Harding conferred with the California court and transferred to California jurisdiction over all matters except the pending contempt hearing. (Record 447.)

A hearing on the contempt issues was held October 18, 1999. Judge Harding found Mrs. Barton to be in continued contempt of court, ordered her incarcerated immediately to serve two days in jail, and imposed attorney fees and expenses of \$3,631.88. Judge Harding refused to consider Mrs. Barton's oral motion for a stay of execution (Transcript October 18 p. 148), so the jail time has been served. The monetary judgments remain outstanding.

C. Statement of Facts.

The parties have three children. Joshua was age 12 at the time of the contempt hearing, Brooke, age 9, and Jacob, age 7. (Transcript October 18 page 16.) Both parties resided in Thousand Oaks, California. (Transcript October 18 page 16; Record 382 ¶ 5, Record 366, Record 404-405 ¶ 2.) Mrs. Barton and the children moved to California in August 1997. (Record 406 ¶ 2.) Mr. Barton moved to California in early 1998. (Record 406-405 ¶ 2, 382 ¶ 5.)

In a bifurcated proceeding, the parties were divorced by decree entered April 9, 1997. (Record 59-58.) The remaining issues were addressed in a stipulated Addendum to Decree of Divorce entered December 22, 1998. (Record 324-303.) At that time the parties still had unresolved disputes regarding custody and visitation issues. (Record 382 ¶ 4.) Mrs. Barton contended that Mr. Barton had abused her and the children. (Record 396.) The Addendum provided for appointment of a Special Master in California to resolve the visitation disputes:

The parties are in agreement that Patrick C. Barker, Ph.D., 260 Maple Court, Suite 129, Ventura, California, 93003-3512, telephone number 805-654-1018, fax number 805-654-1098, shall be appointed as the Special Master between the parties. In the event that Dr. Barker is unable, or unwilling, to act as the Special Master between the parties, then Dr. James B. Cole, Ph.D., 993 West Seventh Street, Oxnard, California, 93030, telephone number 805-483-9565, fax number 805-486-5483, shall be appointed as the Special Master between the parties.

(Record 315 ¶ 4.)

At the time of the Addendum, the parties were already living in California, so the Addendum provided for a transfer of jurisdiction:

The Fourth District Court of Utah, State of Utah, shall maintain jurisdiction of this case until a Special Master/Interventionist in California is established and agreed upon between the parties. The Special Master will act as a child advocate and an arbitrator on behalf of the children and will be able to work with each parent to improve the parties' post divorce relationship.

(Record 323-322 ¶ 3.A.vi.)

Consistent with the Addendum, Patrick C. Barker commenced to act as Special Master for the parties. Mrs. Barton met with him in March 1999. (Transcript October 18 p. 18.) Dr. Barker then withdrew (Record 354), and, as provided in the Addendum, Dr. James P. Cole then served as Special Master. Mrs. Barton met with Dr. Cole in June 1999. (Transcript Oct. 18, p. 19.) At that time, she discussed with him the fact that she was a school teacher and did not get paid during the summer months, and asked to not meet with him until September when she would receive her first paycheck for the new school year. Dr. Cole agreed to that delay. (Id.)

On June 11, 1999, Mr. Barton sent Mrs. Barton a letter requesting summer visitation from August 5, 1999, through September 9, 1999, a period which included the children's first week of school. (Record 366-365, 398 ¶ 27.) Mrs. Barton responded by

agreeing to the first two weeks of the summer visitation, but objecting to the balance because it would prevent her from exercising the visitation and holidays awarded to her. (Record 398 ¶ 26. 397 ¶ 29.) Mr. Barton contacted the Special Master, but he declined to intervene apparently because Mrs. Barton had asked to delay meeting with him until September. (Record 377-376 ¶ 21.)

On July 19, 1999, John Barton obtained in Utah an Order to Show Cause In Re Contempt, which claimed that Mrs. Barton had not complied with the provisions of the Addendum to Decree of Divorce relating to the Special Master. (Record 409-408.) The Order to Show Cause scheduled a hearing in Heber City for August 11, 1999, and was served on Mrs. Barton in California on August 3, six business days before the hearing. (Record 407.)

Mrs. Barton obtained counsel in California and commenced an action in California to determine the visitation issues there. The California counsel also assisted Mrs. Barton in preparing an affidavit which she filed in the Utah action. (Transcript Oct. 18 p. 16.) Mrs. Barton understood, based on the Addendum to Decree of Divorce and the affidavit she had prepared, that the case would be transferred to California. Based on that understanding, she did not personally appear at the Utah hearing. (Transcript Oct. 18, p. 18.)

The hearing on August 11, 1999, was held before Judge Lynn Davis. Judge Davis expressed concern that this was really a matter which should be addressed by the California courts. (Transcript Aug. 11 pp. 6-8.) Judge Davis nonetheless undertook to exercise

jurisdiction and found Mrs. Barton in contempt for failing to personally appear in Utah and for failing to allow visitation. Judge Davis awarded judgment against Mrs. Barton for travel expenses and attorney fees and awarded make-up visitation. (Record 415-412.) The make-up visitation was to be unsupervised, contrary to the recommendation of the Special Master in California.

A hearing on contempt sanctions was scheduled for October 18, 1999. (Record 416, 447.) At the time of the contempt hearing, Mrs. Barton was employed as a schoolteacher in California. (Transcript October 18 page 19.) She did not get paid during the summer months. (Id. pp. 19, 27.) Even when she was receiving her paycheck, her income was not sufficient to meet expenses. Her monthly take-home pay was \$2,100 per month, plus she received \$1,075 per month for child support. Her rent was \$1,550, plus she had a car payment of \$264, expenses for utilities, food, clothing, gasoline, etc.. She testified that she went in the hole every month. (Transcript October 18 page 23.) Mr. Barton did not present any evidence concerning the ability of Mrs. Barton to pay the judgment against her.

At the hearing on October 18, 1999, Judge Harding found that Mrs. Barton had "continued in her ongoing willful and intentional disregard of the order of the court of August 12, 1999 especially as it relates to the issue of ongoing and makeup visitation." Judge Harding sentenced Mrs. Barton to two days in jail, to commence immediately, and ordered that all other issues of make-up visitation and other sanctions would be determined

by the California court. (Record 480-479.) Mrs. Barton was immediately incarcerated and has served the two days jail time.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The parties were divorced in Utah, but then moved to California. The decree provided for appointment of a Special Master in California and stated that jurisdiction would transfer to Utah when the Special Master became "established." The Special Master had met with the parties regarding visitation issues, although there were ongoing disputes concerning the parties' relationship with the Special Master. The trial court should have found that the Special Master had been "established," and declined to exercise jurisdiction.

The federal Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act also divested the trial court of jurisdiction. Under the PKPA, jurisdiction continues only so long as a party remains a resident of the decree state. Both parties and the children had moved to California, so the trial court lacked jurisdiction to proceed.

Even if the court had jurisdiction, its rulings were in error. The court failed to make any finding concerning the ability of Mrs. Barton to pay the contempt judgment against her. The only evidence on the issue showed that she was a school teacher with no salary during the summer, and did not have the ability to pay the judgment.

The trial court also erred by excluding Mrs. Barton's evidence to explain why she took the actions she did. The court excluded as hearsay evidence of advice Mrs. Barton received from her attorneys and from the Special Master. That evidence was not offered for the truth

of the advice, however, but only to show that Mrs. Barton received the advice. That Mrs. Barton was acting on the advice of officers of the court was relevant to whether she was in contempt and relevant to the level of sanctions to be imposed. It was not hearsay and should have been admitted.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT LACKED JURISDICTION.

A. The Decree Required that Utah Defer to California's Jurisdiction.

The Addendum to Decree of Divorce contained a clear provision that jurisdiction would be transferred to California as soon as a special Master was "established" there. The evidence showed the special Master had been appointed and was functioning. The trial court erred in failing to transfer jurisdiction to California.

The Addendum stated:

The Fourth District Court of Utah, State of Utah shall maintain jurisdiction of this case until a Special Master /Interventionist in California is established and agreed upon between the parties. The Special Master will act as a child advocate and an arbitrator on behalf of the children and will be able to work with each parent to improve the parties' post divorce relationship.

(Addendum to Decree of Divorce, ¶ 3.A.iv at Record 323-324.)

Mrs. Barton's affidavit asserted that a special Master had been established in California, and that both parties had participated with the special Master. Based on this

claim of lack of jurisdiction, the trial court should have first determined whether it had jurisdiction before proceeding to hear the other issues. Even though Mrs. Barton did not personally appear at the hearing, a court always has an obligation to affirmatively inquire into its own jurisdiction. "A court's initial inquiry should always be to determine whether it has jurisdiction to determine a controversy." Otteson v. State, 945 P.2d 170, 171 (Utah App. 1997) (citation omitted).

B. The PKPA Precluded Utah from Exercising Jurisdiction.

In this case, the jurisdiction prerequisites under Utah Code Ann. § 78-45c-3 were no longer satisfied. Because the child and both contestants had moved away from Utah, Utah no longer had jurisdiction. Liska v. Liska, 902 P.2d 644, 647 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) ("Only when the child and all parties have moved away is deference to another state's continuing jurisdiction no longer required.")

Although Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(3) purports to grant a trial court "continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the custody of the children," this provision is superseded by the federal Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act (PKPA), 28 U.S.C. 1738A. Section 1738A(d) of the PKPA states:

The jurisdiction of a court of a State which has made a child custody or visitation determination consistently with the provisions of this section continues as long as the requirement of subsection (c)(1) of this section continues to be met and such State remains the residence of the child or of any contestant.

This federal statute preempts the Utah provision. "Where the PKPA and the state's version of the UCCJA conflict, the PKPA preempts state law." Crump v. Crump, 821 P.2d 1172, 1174 (Utah App. 1991), quoting State ex rel. D.S.K., 792 P.2d 118, 128 (Utah App.1990). "Unlike the UCCJA, the PKPA "anchors exclusive continuing jurisdiction to modify a previous custody decree in the original home state as long as the child or one of the contestants remains in that state." Crump, 821 P.2d at 1174-75 (citation omitted).

Cases from other jurisdictions confirm that Utah lost jurisdiction when Mr. Barton moved to California. Maxie v. Fernandez, 649 F. Supp. 627 (E.D. Vir. 1986), addressed the question of whether the decree jurisdiction, the District of Columbia, retained jurisdiction. The mother and child had moved to Virginia. The father had physically moved to New York, although he claimed to retain a residence in the District of Columbia. The court found the father had moved, and concluded that the District of Columbia no longer had jurisdiction even though the District's own statutes provided for continuing jurisdiction. 649 F. Supp. at 630. Dahlen v. Dahlen, 393 N.W.2d 765 (N.D. 1986), similarly involved a situation where the state's statute provided for continuing jurisdiction, but the court held it had lost jurisdiction because all parties had moved from the state.

In In re marriage of Pedowitz, 225 Cal. Rptr. 186 (5th Dist. 1986), the mother and child had moved permanently to Florida, but the father claimed to still reside in the decree state of California. The evidence showed that the father had lived in Florida for nearly a year, but had moved back to California. The California court held there were insufficient

facts to show whether the father had remained a resident of California, and remanded the case for additional evidence.

Here the evidence showed that all parties were residing in California. Utah had lost jurisdiction, both under the PKPA and under the clear terms of the decree itself. The trial court erred in exercising jurisdiction.

C. The Trial Court Should Have Deferred to California's Jurisdiction.

Even if Utah had technically retained jurisdiction, it should have concluded that jurisdiction should be in California. Both parties and children were in California. The children were born in Thousand Oaks, California, and all of their grandparents resided in California. (Record 404-405.) The decree itself provided that jurisdiction should shift to California. Under these circumstances, it would have been an abuse of discretion to fail to transfer jurisdiction to California. Liska v. Liska, 902 P.2d 644, 649-650 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

D. The Ruling on Jurisdiction Was Not Supported by Adequate Findings.

If the trial court had inquired concerning jurisdiction and determined to retain jurisdiction, one would have expected the court to make appropriate findings of fact and conclusions of law to support that decision. Particularly, one would have expected findings on the critical issues of the parties' residence and whether a Special Master had been "established" in California. Where the testimony of the parties was in conflict on these issues, the trial court was required to make express findings.

E. Summary.

Mrs. Barton anticipates that Mr. Barton may assert that Utah retained jurisdiction over contempt issues. The decree, however, provided otherwise. In addition, it appears that Judge Harding imposed a harsh penalty in response to the perceived failure to comply with the make-up visitation ordered by Judge Davis, even though Judge Davis lacked jurisdiction to modify visitation.¹

The conclusion that jurisdiction should have been transferred to California was confirmed when the trial court actually transferred jurisdiction to California. This transfer left an anomalous state of affairs. Mrs. Barton was held in contempt for, in essence, trying to following the Addendum's requirement that visitation be determined by the Special Master and the California courts. The Utah court ultimately agreed with her.

The end result is that Mrs. Barton served two days in jail and has a judgment against her for nearly \$5000 for asserting that jurisdiction was in California, the same position ultimately adopted by the Utah court. This is clearly unfair. This court should hold that the trial court erred in addressing contempt issues without having first determined whether the court had or should exercise jurisdiction over the visitation issues. This court should further hold that the trial court did not have jurisdiction over the visitation issues.

¹It is interesting that Judge Harding held that he lacked jurisdiction to award makeup visitation as a sanction. (Transcript Oct. 18 p. 143.)

POINT II

MRS. BARTON WAS PREJUDICED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE JUSTIFYING HER ACTIONS.

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