1999

Rhonda Lynn Cameron Barton v. John Kimball Barton : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Utah court exercised appropriate jurisdiction. The parties were, indeed, divorced in Utah by bifurcated decree entered on April 9, 1997. (Record 59-58) and Mrs. Barton moved to California on or around August 15, 1997. However, Mr. Barton remained domiciled in Utah but took extended contract work in California in order to facilitate visitation without disruption in the children's lives. The Addendum to the divorce decree provides that:

A.(iv) The Fourth District Court of Utah, State of Utah, shall maintain jurisdiction of this case until a Special Master/Interventionist in California is established and agreed upon between the parties. The Special Master will act as a child advocate and an arbitrator on behalf of the children and will be able to work with each parent to improve the parties' post divorce relationship. (Record 323-322).

Here, the Special Master had been designated and Mr. Barton paid the fees and began cooperating with him. Mrs. Barton, on the other hand, was not cooperating with the Special Master. She would not return phone calls and she did not make appointments. In fact, it has been established that her tone towards the Special Master was belligerent and non cooperative. The Special Master had been designated, but arguably, Mrs. Barton's actions could be viewed as a direct rejection of his services. In which case, the Special Master had not yet been "established and agreed upon by both parties"

and Mr. Barton's attempt to enforce the divorce decree was properly heard by the Utah Courts.

The Federal Parental Kidnaping Act does not apply in this case since Mr. Barton was still a Utah resident at the time of the contempt proceeding. The court, then, exercised appropriate jurisdiction.

The court's rulings were appropriate. Judge Davis inquired as to Mrs. Barton's financial condition. The judge inquired as to her salary, her support payments, and her monthly expenses before making his decision. Mrs. Barton was allowed time to comply with the court order. She did not comply with the court order. Mrs. Barton's wilful disregard of existing court orders precipitated the judge's rulings. In light of Mrs. Barton's conduct and behavior, the ruling was appropriate. The trial court also properly excluded testimony meant to justify Mrs. Barton's actions. The testimony was excluded based on rules governing hearsay. Assuming arguendo that Mrs. Barton was allowed to introduce hearsay evidence meant to establish some justification for her actions, she can only do so by a showing of good faith. Mrs. Barton knowingly disregarded the court order. She attempted to have California exercise emergency jurisdiction to avoid any punishment for her action. She wilfully disregarded the contempt order and continues to attempt to shirk from accepting responsibility for her actions. Due to Mrs. Barton's actions, the ruling to exclude hearsay evidence was proper.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT EXERCISED APPROPRIATE JURISDICTION.

- A. The Agreement Regarding a Special Master Set Out in the Divorce Decree Had Not Been Met.

First and foremost, it has been established that the proceedings that have led to this appeal were for contempt and sanctions and not regarding custody. The Addendum to the Divorce Decree provides that:

A.(iv) The Fourth District Court of Utah, State of Utah, shall maintain jurisdiction of this case until a Special Master/Interventionist in California is established and agreed upon between the parties. The Special Master will act as a child advocate and an arbitrator on behalf of the children and will be able to work with each parent to improve the parties' post divorce relationship. (Record 323-322).

A Special Master had been designated but was not established and was not functioning in working "with each parent to improve the parties' post divorce relationship" as indicated in the Addendum. Arguably, the Special Master had not been established and agreed upon by both parties since Mrs. Barton was not cooperating with him. Appellant argues: "A court's initial inquiry should always be to determine whether it has jurisdiction to determine a controversy." (Appellants Brief, page 11 quoting Otteson v. State, 945 P. 2d 170, 171 (Utah App. 1997). At the August 11 hearing, Judge Davis did inquire as to whether Utah had jurisdiction. After reading relevant portions of the Divorce Decree, the judge said:

If it says Utah shall maintain jurisdiction of this case until a special master interventionist in California is established, and that in fact has been established or to have been established then it was, I don't know whether it was the judges belief that once that occurred Utah has no further jurisdiction." (Transcript, August 11, 1999 page 8-9).

The argument was raised that in essence the Special Master has not been established because in Mrs. Barton's correspondence she has said that she didn't acknowledge the Special Master. She even attempted to have California take emergency jurisdiction and California denied that request. Why would she do that if she believed jurisdiction had already transferred to California? After the

judge's inquiry, the judge decided Utah maintained jurisdiction to hear the matter. Mr. Barton brought this action in a Utah court because the provisions of the Divorce Decree, specifically the provision regarding cooperation with the Special Master, were not being met. Having properly established jurisdiction, the court exercised appropriate jurisdiction in finding Mrs. Barton in contempt of court for failure to appear at the hearing and for failure to comply with the decree or the Addendum to the divorce Decree.

B. The PKPA Does Not Affect Jurisdiction in This Matter.

The Parental Kidnaping Protection Act (PKPA) provides for jurisdiction. In this case, the PKPA does not apply since Mr. Barton had not moved from Utah. At the time of the contempt hearing, Mr. Barton did work in California but his primary place of residence was Utah. He owned property in Utah and not in California. He paid his insurance in Utah. All in all, Mr. Barton was a Utah resident. Liska v. Liska, cited in Appellant's brief, states "Jurisdiction remain in the decree state as long as one parent continues to reside in the original state and maintains some contact with the child." 902 P. 2d 644 (Utah App. 1995) quoting Rawlings v. Weiner, 752 P. 2d 1327, 1330-31 (Utah App.) (Bench, J. Concurring), cert. denied, 765 P. 2d 1278 (Utah 1988).

Utah retained jurisdiction. Even if the PKPA does preempt State law, it does not apply here since Mr. Barton was a Utah resident at the time of the contempt proceeding. Utah Code Ann. 78-45c-3 is not disturbed. All of the cases cited in Appellant's brief discuss jurisdiction when all parties have moved from the decree state. This is simply not the case here. The PKPA does not apply and the Utah Court exercised appropriate jurisdiction in this matter.

C. The Trial Court Exercised Appropriate Jurisdiction Per an Agreement Between the California and Utah Courts.

Utah had jurisdiction to hear the contempt and sanctions proceedings per an agreement between the Utah and California courts. On September 28, 1999, Commissioner Pattie in California and Judge Ray M. Harding in Utah conferred regarding jurisdiction. The courts agreed:

The [Utah] Court rules that it will hear the contempt matter currently set for October 18, 1999, at 3 PM. All other issues, including custody and visitation, are to be heard by the California court. (Record 447).

There can be no question of jurisdiction. In Liska v. Liska, the court states:

Until Utah declined to exercise jurisdiction, the Colorado court was without power to unilaterally assume jurisdiction over this case, unless it did so on an emergency basis. 902 P. 2d 644 (Utah App. 1995) quoting State ex. rel. D.S.K. v. Kasper, 792 P. 2d 118. 123 (Utah App. 1990).

Despite Mrs. Barton's attempts, California would not take emergency jurisdiction in this matter.

Mrs. Barton cannot use the legal system to avoid being held responsible for her disobedience in complying with court orders.

D. The Court Properly Ruled in This Matter.

The court did make inquiries as to whether the Special Master had been established. The court also heard testimony as to the failure on the part of Mrs. Barton to cooperate with the Special Master. The court heard testimony of Mrs. Barton's failure to comply with visitation provisions in the Divorce Decree. The court also heard testimony of Mrs. Barton's rejection of the Special Master. The court also heard testimony that Mr. Barton was finding it impossible to enforce the Divorce Decree due to Mrs. Barton's wilful disregard for its provisions. The court also noted Mrs. Barton's failure to appear for the hearing and was aware that she had attempted to have California take

emergency jurisdiction in this matter. With all of this information in hand, the court properly ruled in this matter.

POINT II

MRS. BARTON ACTED IN BAD FAITH REGARDING COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONTEMPT ORDER AND THE COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED TESTIMONY MEANT TO JUSTIFY HER ACTIONS.

On August 11, 1999, Mrs. Barton was found in contempt of court. At the hearing, the judge found her

in contempt of court as it relates to her failure to appear on this date after having been properly and personally served, and for her...failure to comply with the decree or the addendum to the decree. (Transcript, August 11 page 31).

In an attempt to afford Mrs. Barton time to remedy the situation and avoid a penalty, the judge said that he would

reserve the issue of...a penalty or, the imposition of incarceration pending a review of her compliance with the order. It won't purge it but...I will hold it in reserve for 60 days...(Transcript, August 11 page 32).

Since the order was issued, Mrs. Barton has done nothing to comply with it. In fact, she has done everything in her power to keep the children from Mr. Barton and has not cooperated with the Special Master. At the contempt hearing held on October 18, 1999, Mrs. Barton attempted to explain why she had not appeared at the August 11 hearing and why she has continued to deny visitation to Mr. Barton. Much of this explanation was stating advice supposedly given her by others, namely her California counsel. Judge Harding appropriately denied such testimony as hearsay. Utah Rules of Evidence 801(c) states: hearsay is limited to statements "offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Appellant cites State v. Sorenson in arguing the evidence

should have been admitted. State v. Sorenson states:

When an out of court statement is offered simply to prove that it was made, without regard to whether it is true, such testimony is not proscribed by the hearsay rule." 617 P. 2d 333 (Utah 1980).

Sorenson further states, "Evidence of a statement by a third person is therefore admissible, irrespective of the fact that it was made out of court, if it is offered to support a defense of good faith." In the case at hand, Mrs. Barton cannot make a good faith defense. The evidence justifying Mrs. Barton's actions was properly excluded since her actions prior to the contempt hearing and after the hearing, demonstrate she clearly had no intention of complying with the divorce decree or the contempt order. Mrs. Barton comes to the table with unclean hands. She is seeking to have her actions made in bad faith explained away by introducing hearsay evidence that is only admissible to support a good faith defense. This course of action was properly not allowed by the Judge Harding. Mrs. Barton's actions prior to and after the contempt hearing demonstrate her hostility towards Mr. Barton and her desire to make visitation and communication with the children difficult, if not impossible, for him.

Mellor v. Cook also cited in Appellant's brief discussed the exclusion of testimony demonstrating reliance on advice of counsel, where defendant manifested an attitude of knowing and wilful disobedience of the court order. 597 P. 2d 882 (Utah 1979). Once again, Mrs. Barton knowingly disregarded the court order. Mrs. Barton knew the duty imposed upon her by the court order as evidenced by the ex parte orders requesting emergency jurisdiction which she filed in California prior to the August 11 hearing. Mrs. Barton was not prejudiced by the exclusion of testimony justifying her actions because she wilfully and knowingly violated the court order. Moreover, she has no good faith defense as evidenced by her actions warranting the contempt

hearing. The exclusion of such testimony did not prejudice Mrs. Barton in any way. Rehn v. Rehn, 974 P. 2d 306 (Utah App. 1999).

POINT III

THE CONTEMPT FINDING WAS APPROPRIATE IN LIGHT OF MRS. BARTON'S BLATANT DISREGARD FOR THE JUDICIAL PROCESS.

In Thomas v. Thomas, 569 P.2d 1119 (Utah 1977), it states: "When a proper order or judgment has been made, one who stands in wilful defiance or disobedience thereof may be found in contempt of court and punished by imprisonment." Mrs. Barton wilfully defied the court order and was, subsequently, found in contempt. Further, Judge Davis afforded her 60 days in which to comply with the court order. Once again, Mrs. Barton refused to comply. Appellant contends that neither Judge Davis nor Judge Harding inquired as to Mrs. Barton's finances and ability to pay. This contention is incorrect. Judge Harding went into some detail regarding Mrs. Barton's salary, living expenses and support payments (See, Transcript, October 18 page 22-23). Furthermore, Appellant attempted to offer testimony of a recent bankruptcy and the financial conditions that led to that bankruptcy to which Judge Harding responded:

...you probably know this court well enough to know that's not going to make a difference in my decision. It may feel good to your client to be able to state that but it's not going to make any difference to me. (Transcript, October 18 page 52).

Appellant's attorney then stated:

No. And, we only bring that out for the purpose, Your Honor, of showing what her financial condition is. (Transcript, October 18 page 52).

To which Judge Harding responded, "Well, it doesn't show...I've ruled." (Transcript, October 18 page 52-53). As demonstrated, inquiries were made into Mrs. Barton's ability to pay. Appellant

also argues that the court placed Mrs. Barton in an impossible situation. "If she failed to pay Mr. Barton, she would be in continued contempt. If she failed to pay the Special Master, she would be found in contempt for failing to cooperate with the Special Master." (See, Appellant's Brief, page 16). This statement is also incorrect. Mr. Barton pre-paid the Special Master start-up fees to allow the Special Master to begin working with both Mr. and Mrs. Barton. To date, Mrs. Barton has not paid her portion of the fees. Appellant's argument that she is unable to incur the cost of the Special Master is an attempt to shift the focus from being unwilling to pay to being unable to pay. Appellant is attempting to extract sympathy for her position and cloud the issue of her wilful disobedience of the court order.

A contempt finding was proper in this case considering Mrs. Barton's actions. The court may find a party in contempt if there is a continued disregard of court orders. Kelly v. Draney established that contempt may be found when one party exhibits a "consistent refusal to follow the direct court order." 754 P. 2d 92, 95 (Utah App. 1988). Had Mrs. Barton put forth every reasonable effort to comply with the court order and still failed to do so, she may not be guilty of contempt on account of that failure. Myers v. Myers, 768 P. 2d 979 (Utah App. 1989). Nevertheless, this was not the case with Mrs. Barton who has made no visible attempt to comply with the court order—even after being found in contempt of court. Prior to being served notice of the August 11 hearing, Mrs. Barton had written to Mr. Barton's attorney wherein she states she was "agreeable to John's request to make up visitation." (Transcript, October 18 page 119). Now, when she was served with the August 12 order, she still did nothing to allow visitation. To date, Mrs. Barton still has not made an effort to comply with the court order and this appeal is yet another way to avoid her responsibilities.

Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure allows the court to award attorney's fees and costs as a sanction for a frivolous appeal or for delay. In Porco v. Porco, 752 P. 2d 365 (Utah App. 1988) this court ruled sanctions should be imposed for a frivolous appeal when:

An appeal is obviously without merit and has been taken with no reasonable likelihood of prevailing, and results in delayed implementation of the judgement of the lower court; increased costs of litigation; and dissipation of the time and resources of the law court.

The Porco court so ruled even though it "recognize[d] that sanctions for frivolous appeals should only be applied in egregious cases, lest there be an improper chilling of the right to appeal erroneous lower court decisions."

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